1	IN THE SUPREME COURT	OF TH	IE STA'	TE OF NEVADA	
2				_	
3	<u></u>				
4	JAMES DAEVON MANNING,	)	NO.	65856	
5	Appellant,	)			
6		)			
7	Vs	)			
8	THE STATE OF NEVADA,	)			
9	7	)			
10	Respondent.	)			
11		/			
12	APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF				
13	PHILIP J. KOHN	STE	VEN B.	WOLFSON	
14	CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEF. 309 South Third Street, #226			UNTY DIST ATTY	
15	Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2610			venue, 3 <sup>rd</sup> Floor Nevada 89155	
16	(702) 455-4685		) 455-47		
17	Attorney for Appellant	ADA	AM LAX	KALT	
18			rney Ger		
19				arson Street Nevada 89701	
20			) 684-12		
21		<i>C</i>	1 С т		
22		Cour	isel for I	Respondent	
23					
24					
25					
26					
27					

1

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

I. The district court committed reversible error by failing/refusing to instruct the jury on the lesser-included offense of Battery. 1

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 21, 2013, the State of Nevada charged Appellant via criminal complaint with: count 1, Robbery; count 2, Battery with the Intent to Commit a Crime (Robbery); count 3, Robbery, Victim 60 Years of Age or Older; and count 4, Battery with the Intent to Commit a Crime (Robbery). Appellant's Appendix p. 1-2 ("AA I 1-2"). The State

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This Court's Order Directing Full Briefing advised that full briefing is limited to the sole issue of whether this Court's should reconsider its previous decision in <u>Lisby v. State</u>, 82 Nev. 183, 187, 414 P.2d 592, 595 (1966) which mandates that a district court *sua sponte* instruct the jury regarding lesser-included offenses when evidence has been presented absolving the defendant of guilt for the greater offense while supporting guilt for the lesser offense. *See* Order Directing Full Briefing, filed November 4, 2015.

alleged counts 1 and 2 occurred on March 27, 2013, and counts 3 and 4 occurred on March 29, 2013.<sup>2</sup> <u>Id</u>. at 1-2.

Appellant made his first appearance in Las Vegas Justice Court department 5 on May 22, 2013. <u>Id</u>. at 3. At this initial arraignment the magistrate fixed bail, appointed the Clark County Public Defender to represent Appellant, and scheduled a preliminary hearing for June 5, 2013. <u>Id</u>. However, Appellant was not transported to court for his preliminary hearing on June 5, 2013. <u>Id</u>. at 4. As a result, the magistrate continued the hearing to June 19, 2013. <u>Id</u>.

At the continued preliminary hearing on June 19, 2013, the State of Nevada called one witness, Thor Berg ("Berg"). <u>Id</u>. at 5. At hearing's conclusion, the magistrate dismissed counts 1 and 2 and held Appellant to answer in the district court on counts 3 and 4. <u>Id</u>.

The State filed an Information in district court department 11 on June 27, 2013, charging Appellant with one count of Robbery, Victim over 60 Years of Age and one count of Battery with the Intent to Commit a Crime (Robbery). <u>Id</u>. at 7-8. At his arraignment on July 3, 2013, Appellant pleaded not guilty and invoked his right to a speedy

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> For the March 27, 2013, incident the State alleged Appellant took a cell phone from Sherry Washington. AA I 1. For the March 29<sup>th</sup> incident, the State alleged Appellant took personal property from Thor Berg. <u>Id</u>.

- 7-

trial. <u>Id</u>. at 148. The arraignment hearing master scheduled calendar call for August 14, 2013, and jury trial for August 19, 2013. <u>Id</u>.

The Court subsequently continued Appellant's trial. Also, on October 7, 2013, Appellant's trial counsel became concerned regarding Appellant's mental health so she requested the court evaluate Appellant to determine if he was competent to stand trial. *See* Id. at 153, 189-191. The court agreed and transferred Appellant's case to district court department 7 for the competency evaluation. Id. at 190. The court also stayed all proceedings pending the results of the competency evaluation. Id.

On November 1, 2013, department 7 deemed Appellant competent to stand trial and remanded Appellant's case to department 11. Id. at 154, 193. On November 13, 2013, department 11 re-set Appellant's trial to January 13, 2014. Id. at 155, 201. On January 10, 2014, department 17 assigned Appellant's case to department 3 for trial starting on January 13, 2014. AA I 163.

Appellant's trial lasted three (3) days. Ultimately, the jury acquitted Appellant of count one, Robbery Victim 60 Years of Age or Older but convicted Appellant of count 2, Battery with the Intent to Commit a Crime (Robbery). <u>Id.</u> at 131, 168. After verdict, the court

scheduled a sentencing hearing for March 20, 214. <u>Id</u>. at 168. On January 24, 2014, Appellant filed a Motion for Judgment of Acquittal, or in the Alternative, Motion for a New Trial. <u>Id</u>. at 132. The district court denied the motion after a hearing on February 4, 2014. <u>Id</u>. at 169, AA III 616.

At Appellant's sentencing hearing the court sentenced Appellant to 24 to 60 months in the Nevada Department of Corrections with 362 days credit for time served.<sup>3</sup> Appellant timely filed his Notice of Appeal on June 11, 2014. AA I 145.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On March 29, 2013, Thor Berg ("Berg") rode the CAT bus from Sunset Station Hotel and Casino to Sam's Town Hotel and Casino along Boulder Highway in Las Vegas, Nevada. AA III 369. The bus was crowded. AA II 372. As the bus approached Sam's Town Berg left his seat and walked towards the front exit. Id. at 370. While other persons entered and exited the bus, Berg claimed Appellant reached into Berg's pocket while also applying pressure to the back of Berg's leg which caused Berg to fall. Id. at 370-72, 379. After this alleged

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> For reasons unclear from the record the court continued Appellant's sentencing hearing from April 24, 2014 to May 13, 2014.

-7

9 10 11

8

12 13

14

15

16

17 18

19

20 21

22 23

24 25

26

27 28

incident, Berg claimed his money (\$10.00 to \$12.00), CAT bus pass, Clark County Health card, Amazon.com identification card, and various casino players cards were missing from his pocket. Id. at 371, 383. Berg advised he had been carrying the aforementioned property loosely in his pocket. Id. at 384.

The bus driver stopped the bus and waited for paramedics and police to arrive. Id. Responding police officers initially detained three individuals at a pizza restaurant located across the street from the Sam's Town bus stop whom they suspected were involved in the CAT bus incident. Id. at 373. Police took Berg to a "show-up" identification of the suspects where Berg advised that the alleged assailant was not one of the men detained. Id. Berg then completed a voluntary statement. Id.

Callie Mae Borley ("Borley"), a passenger on the CAT bus on March 29, 2013, claimed while riding the bus she noticed Appellant "scoping" other persons, including Berg. Id. at 403-04. Although Berg noted he did not carry a wallet, Borley insisted Berg had a wallet hanging out of Berg's pocket. Id. When the bus stopped at Sam's Town Hotel and Casino Borley alleged Appellant ran to Berg and

punched Berg while also grabbing Berg's wallet. <u>Id</u>. at 405-06, 413. Borely called 911to report the incident. <u>Id</u>. at 413.

Metro patrol officer Steinbach spoke to Berg and allegedly spoke to other witnesses at the scene as well. <u>Id</u>. at 389. However, Stienbach did not remember which other witnesses he spoke with and did not recall whether he spoke to the most important witness -- the bus driver who was sitting a foot away during the alleged incident. <u>Id</u>. at 390, 394. Steinbach failed to take statements from any of the other witnesses he allegedly spoke to who were also on the bus. <u>Id</u>. at 394-96. Most importantly, Steinbach claimed he did not collect the video surveillance from the bus because it wasn't his responsibility to do so. <u>Id</u>. at 399.

The case was eventually assigned to Metro Detective Emby for follow-up investigation. AA III 465. When Emby received the case he initially reviewed the station briefing log. Id. The station briefing log contains details of what occurred during the alleged crime, suspect description, and if there were videos or photographs of the suspect those images would be uploaded to the briefing log as well. Id. Emby noticed that still photographs of a potential suspect, taken from CAT bus video surveillance on March 29, 2013, had been uploaded to the

station briefing log. Id. at 466. Because there were still images from video surveillance in the briefing log Emby assumed Steinbach or some other patrol officer had impounded the video. Id. However, when Emby contacted the evidence vault he was told the video had "never been picked up by patrol." Id. As a result, Emby claimed he contacted the bus surveillance company to procure the video but was told because "the company had gone out of business" they "had no video to achieve [sic] and was not able to recover any of the video." Id. at 466-67. Although no video allegedly existed, Emby compared still photos from both the March 27th and March 29th incident and determined the same suspect was involved in both incidents. Id. at 467. After comparing the stills, Emby created a media release using a still image from the March 29th incident. Id. Eventually, an unidentified individual called the crime stoppers hotline and advised the person in the photo was Appellant, James Manning. Id. at 468.

On May 18, 2013, Deputy City of Las Vegas Marshal Joseph Rauchfuss was patrolling Doolittle Park near J Street and Lake Mead Blvd. in Las Vegas, Nevada. AA II 232. While on patrol Rauchfuss noticed Appellant asleep in the park's playground area. Id. Rauchfuss woke Appellant and advised that Appellant was violating park rules.

6

8 9

7

10 11

12

13 14

15

16

17

18 19

20

22

21

23 24

25

26 27

28

Id. Rauchfuss detained Appellant and ran a records check. Id. at 233. During the records check, Appellant's SCOPE entry noted that any law enforcement official who had contact with Appellant should immediately contact Detective Emby. Id.

Rauchfuss contacted Metro dispatch who then contacted Emby. Id. Emby eventually called Rachfuss and allegedly told Rachfuss that Emby had probable cause to arrest Appellant, "for two counts of robbery that occurred on the CAT bus."4 Id. Based solely upon Emby's uncorroborated statement Rauchfuss placed Appellant under arrest and transported him to the Clark County Detention Center.<sup>5</sup> <u>Id</u>. at 233-34. Once at the Clark County Detention center Rauchfuss turned Appellant over to Emby's partner, Detective Kavon. <u>Id</u>. at 234.

After waving his right to remain silent Appellant answered Kavon's questions about the March 27, 2013, incident. AA III 639-40.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Rauchfuss's testimony that Emby told him Appellant was wanted "for two counts of robbery" is belied by Kavon's interview with Appellant. During that interview Kavon never explicitly questioned Appellant about the Berg incident but instead only questioned Appellant about the incident on March 27, 2013. Appellant volunteered information regarding other potential incidents that police did not know about, or have evidence for, until Appellant mentioned them. See AA III 639-75. <sup>5</sup>Although Emby allegedly had probable cause to arrest Appellant, there had been no warrants issued for Appellant's arrest as of May 18, 2013, more than 40 days after the alleged CAT bus robberies. AA II 237, 243.

Kavon did not question Appellant about the March 29, 2013, incident involving Berg. *See* Id. at 639-75. During his interrogation, Appellant "confessed" to the March 27, 2013, incident but advised he committed the offense at the behest of Nicholas D. Thompson. Id. at 642, 653-64. Appellant noted Thompson, aka "Baby Insane," was a violent individual who made Appellant commit crimes under threat of death. Id. at 642-75. While Appellant mentioned other alleged incidents involving Thompson, Appellant did not explicitly mention nor confess to the March 29<sup>th</sup> incident involving Berg. Id.

At trial Appellant testified on direct examination that on March 29<sup>th</sup> he traveled on the CAT bus from Henderson, NV, to-his friend Jeremy Watson's house on Boulder Highway. AA III 493. As the bus became crowded Appellant vacated his seat and moved towards the front of the bus near Berg. <u>Id</u>. at 494. When the bus arrived at Appellant's stop, Appellant walked/ran into Berg while exiting the bus. <u>Id</u>. at 494, 523. Appellant admitted making contact with Berg stating, "I was just trying to get off the bus, you know, like he was kind of in the way, you know. I just kind of walked past him, I didn't mean to like -- I guess he fell kind of dramatic to me, but he had fallen. I caught him because I did kind of go past him rough, but I didn't realize he was

4 5

6

7 8

9

11

10

12 13

14

15 16

17

18

19 20

21

22

23 24

25

26

28

27

so fragile." Id. at 523. However, Appellant denied stealing anything from Berg or putting his hand in Berg's pocket. Id. at 494.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

This Court should reverse Appellant's conviction because the State and district court denied Appellant's requested jury instruction regarding misdemeanor battery as a lesser-included offense. The court had an obligation to sua sponte instruct the jury regarding battery after Appellant testified. Even if the court did not have a responsibility to instruct the jury absent a request from the parties, Appellant actually did request the instruction. Because evidence had been presented which conformed to Appellant's theory of defense that he simply battered Berg but did not rob or intend to rob Berg the court could not reject Appellant's requested instruction. The court's erroneous decision mandates reversal.

#### <u>ARGUMENT</u>

I. The district court committed reversible error by failing/refusing to instruct the jury on the lesserincluded offense of Battery.

The State charged Appellant with Robbery and Battery with Intent to Commit a Crime (Robbery). AA I 7-8. To convict Appellant of Battery with the Intent to Commit a Crime (Robbery) the State had

to prove that Appellant committed a battery while also possessing the specific intent to rob Berg. Nevada defines Battery as "any willful and unlawful use of force or violence upon the person of another." NRS 200.481(1)(a). Similarly, Battery with the Intent to Commit a Crime is codified in NRS 200.400(1)(a) and defines battery identically to NRS 200.481(1)(a).

Pursuant to NRS 175.201, "Every person charged with the commission of a crime shall be presumed innocent until the contrary is proved by competent evidence beyond a reasonable doubt; and when an offense has been proved against the person, and there exists a reasonable doubt as to which of two or more degrees the person is guilty, the person shall be convicted only of the lowest." Additionally, NRS 175.501 states pertinently that a defendant "may be found guilty... of an offense necessarily included in the offense charged." An offense is necessarily included in the charged offense when the charged offense "cannot be committed without committing the lesser offense." Estes v. State, 122 Nev. 1123, 1143, 146 P.3d 1114, 1127 (2007) (internal citations omitted).

Here, Appellant could not commit Battery with the Intent to Commit a Crime (Robbery) without simultaneously committing

Battery.<sup>6</sup> Therefore, Battery is a lesser-included offense of Battery with the Intent to Commit a Crime. Accordingly, pursuant to NRS 175.201 and 175.501, the jury had the right to find Appellant guilty only of Battery.

1. Nevada law required the district court to instruct the jury on the lesser-included offense of Battery.

In <u>Lisby v. State</u>, 82 Nev. 183, 187, 414 P.2d 592, 594-95 (1966), this Court, interpreting NRS 175.501, noted three situations which implicate the necessity of lesser-included offense jury instructions and corresponding verdict forms. First, this Court noted when evidence is presented which absolves a defendant of guilt for a greater offense yet supports guilt for a lesser offense the district court must instruct the jury on the lesser offense "without request." <u>Id.</u> Second, where the evidence presented would not support guilt for a lesser offense, where the defendant denies culpability in the charged crime, or where the elements of the lesser and greater offense differ, the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> For other examples of battery as a lesser included offense, see <u>Greenwood v. State</u>, 112 Nev. 408, 915 P.2d 258 (1996) (noting that battery is a lesser-included offense of battery with substantial bodily harm), and <u>Kimball v. State</u>, 100 Nev. 190, 678 P.2d 675 (1984) (also noting that battery is a lesser included offense of battery with substantial bodily harm).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> When this Court decided <u>Lisby</u>, NRS 175.501 was codified as NRS 175.455. NRS 175.455, as quoted in <u>Lisby</u>, is identical to the present day version of NRS 175.501. *See* <u>Lisby</u>, 82 Nev. at 187, 414 P.2d at 594.

district court cannot and should not give lesser offense instructions. <u>Id.</u>

Finally, this Court held that where evidence had been presented to prove the lesser offense, but the State had met its burden of proof for the greater offense, the district court may properly refuse a request for a lesser-included offense instruction. <u>Id.</u> at 188, 414 P.2d at 595. However, this Court added a caveat noting, "[b]ut, if there is any evidence at all, however slight, on any reasonable theory of the case under which the defendant might be convicted of a lower degree or lesser included offense, the court must, if requested, instruct on the lower degree or lesser included offense." <u>Id.</u>

Years later, this Court revisited lesser-included offenses in Rosas v. State, 122 Nev. 1258, 147 P.3d 1101 (2006). In Rosas, this Court explained that NRS 175.501 is essentially the codification of a prosecutor's common law right to allow the jury to consider a lesser-included offense when the State had failed to present sufficient evidence to convict for the greater offense. Id. at 1264, 147 P.3d at 1105. Rosas further explained that although NRS 175.501 codified a prosecutor's common law right to submit lesser-included offenses to the jury, subsequent court decisions acknowledged the defendant's right to lesser-included offense instructions as well. Id. Rosas noted

24

25

26

27

28

Defendants were entitled to lesser-included offense instructions, "because of the 'substantial risk' that a jury will convict despite a failure to prove the charged offense if the defendant appears guilty of some offense." Id. at 1264, 147 P.3d at 1106. While generally reiterating Lisby's holding, Rosas clarified Lisby in one significant The Rosas Court held that a defendant's right to lesserrespect. included offense instructions exits even if the defendant had denied culpability for the charged crime. Id. at 1267, 147 P.3d at 1107. Essentially, as long as evidence had been presented, by either side, to lay the foundation for a verdict on the lesser-included offense, the district court could not reject lesser-included offense instructions if the defendant denied culpability for the charged crime. Id. at 1267, 147 P.3d at 1108. Moreover, Rosas reaffirmed Lisby's requirement that the district court must offer a lesser-included offense instruction without request when, "there is evidence which would absolve the defendant from guilt of the greater offense ... but would support a finding of guilt of the lesser offense." Id. at 1265 fn. 9, 147 P.3d at 1106 fn.9.

> a. The district court was required to give a lesserincluded offense instruction regarding battery without request.

Nevada mandates that district courts instruct the jury regarding lesser-included offenses, without request, when evidence has been presented absolving the defendant of guilt for the greater offense while supporting guilt for the lesser offense. Lisby, 82 Nev. at 187, 414 P.2d at 594-95; Rosas, 122 Nev. at 1265 fn. 9, 147 P.3d at 1106 fn.9. This approach is typically referred to as the "trial integrity approach." See Catherine L. Carpenter, The All or Nothing Doctrine in Criminal Cases: Independent Trial Strategy or Gamesmanship Gone Awry?, 26 Am. J. Crim. L. 257, 278 (Spring 1999). The trial integrity approach is based upon an acknowledgment that lesser-included offense instructions are "fundamental to the trial process, and as such, the decision whether to instruct on lesser-included offenses rests exclusively with the court." Id.

In contrast, other jurisdictions follow an approach which allows a defendant to reject a lesser-included offense instruction even when the evidence presented would absolve him of guilt for the greater offense but permit conviction for the lesser offense. This approach is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See <u>Id</u>. at 264 fn. 17, specifically noting Nevada has codified the trial integrity approach in NRS 175.501.

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