IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JAMES DAEVON MANNING,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Mar 22 2016 03:01 p.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

Case No. 65856

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

WILLIAM M. WATERS Deputy Public Defender Nevada Bar #009456 309 South Third Street, #226 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 (702) 455-4685 STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

is met, and this Court's definition of a lesser included offense. Instead, the State solely contests a court's duty and ability to impose a sua sponte lesser included offense instruction absent request.

precedential support it appears to provide in <u>Lisby</u>, as the jury in <u>Moore</u> was charged only to find the defendant guilty or not guilty of the charge in the charging document. <u>Moore</u> in no way stands for the proposition that Nevada law requires sua sponte instruction on lesser included offenses.

The Court has hinted that <u>Moore</u> only concerns degrees of offenses, rather than lesser included offenses:

[I]n <u>Lisby</u>, we relied on [<u>Moore</u>], which relied upon section 6277 of the Revised Laws of 1912. That statute, and <u>Moore</u>, said that an instruction on lesser *degrees* of the crime must be given if there was supporting evidence. Here, however, the record fails to support the foundation for any verdict on a lesser degree.

<u>Wilmeth v. State</u>, 96 Nev. 403, 408, 610 P.2d 735, 738-739 (1980). <u>Wilmeth</u> concerned whether a district court's refusal of alleged lesser included offenses was error, but noted that <u>Moore</u> and its sua sponte duty concerned *degrees of offenses*, not separate offenses.

Thus, the <u>Lisby</u> Court's reliance on <u>Moore</u> in its discussion was erroneous. As stated by <u>Wilmeth</u>, <u>Moore</u>'s discussion of the sua sponte requirement to instruct on lesser degrees was grounded in a *statute* that specifically addressed *degrees*. <u>Moore</u> did not, however, concern lesser included offenses, which are not degrees of a single offense but instead are separate crimes. This is a meaningful distinction because instruction on lesser degrees is statutorily mandated, <u>see</u> NRS 175.201, while instruction on lesser included offenses is not.

This Court's decision in <u>State v. St. Clair</u>, 16 Nev. 207, 212 (1881), suggests that Nevada law has previously not required the sua sponte giving of lesser included offense instructions. <u>St. Clair</u> involved a trial court's failure to give a verdict form on manslaughter in a murder prosecution. The Court concluded that defense counsel's failure to request such a form was fatal to the claim on appeal, as, "if counsel for defendant considered it important that a form of verdict for manslaughter should be given, it was their duty either to prepare the same, or, at least, to request the court to give a form of verdict for each of the lesser degrees of guilt." <u>Id.</u>

Therefore, Nevada precedent did not support the Court in <u>Lisby</u>'s discussion on the mandatory requirement to give lesser included offense instructions.

Further, there is no statutory support for such a requirement. Manning relies on NRS 175.201, but his analysis is similar to the <u>Lisby</u> Court's erroneous analysis of <u>Moore</u>. In light of the plain meaning of NRS 175.201, Manning's reasoning is flawed:

Every person charged with the commission of a crime shall be presumed innocent until the contrary is proved by competent evidence beyond a reasonable doubt; and when an offense has been proved against the person, and there exists a reasonable doubt as to which of two or more *degrees* the person is guilty, the person shall be convicted only of the lowest.

(emphasis added). "When interpreting a statute, this court must give its terms their plain meaning, considering its provisions as a whole so as to read them 'in a way that would not render words or phrases superfluous or make a provision nugatory."" <u>S. Nev. Homebuilders Ass'n v. Clark Cty.</u>, 121 Nev. 446, 449, 117 P.3d 171, 173 (2005) (quoting <u>Charlie Brown Constr. Co. v. Boulder City</u>, 106 Nev. 497, 502, 797 P.2d 946, 949 (1990)).

As evidenced by <u>Wilmeth</u>, the concept of *degrees* of offenses and *lesser included offenses* are distinct and have separate meanings. 96 Nev. at 408, 610 P.2d at 738-39. The plain meaning of NRS 175.201 cannot be read to suggest that it is necessary for a jury to be instructed on lesser included offenses, as this statute clearly refers to degrees.

The plain meaning of NRS 175.501, which governs lesser included offenses, also fails to support Manning's position. That statute reads as follows:

The defendant may be found guilty or guilty but mentally ill of an offense necessarily included in the offense charged or of an attempt to commit either the offense charged or an offense necessarily included therein if the attempt is an offense.

Nowhere in this language did the Nevada Legislature impose a mandatory duty on trial courts to instruct on lesser included offenses. Therefore, there is no statutory authority for such a rule.

There is no precedential or statutory authority, outside of <u>Lisby</u> for requiring sua sponte instruction on lesser included offenses. Instead, relying solely on California's discussion of its law in <u>Morrison</u>,³ the <u>Lisby</u> Court stated as clearly

³ 228 Cal. App. 2d 707, 39 Cal. Rptr. 874.

established law that the giving of lesser included offense instructions was mandatory.

This analysis stands on shaky ground, and at no point has this Court seriously considered whether this should be the rule in Nevada (unlike California, where many cases have analyzed the rule and considered its implications). The instant case presents the opportunity, and, because statutory authority for such a rule is lacking and because the rule has serious policy implications, this Court should reject the trial integrity approach.

B. This Court Has Only Rarely Discussed, and Almost Never Applied, the "Sua Sponte" Situation Outlined in Lisby

Further, this alleged rule of Nevada law has almost never been applied. In nearly every published case citing <u>Lisby</u>, the alleged error concerned a district court's failure to give a *requested* lesser included offense instruction, not the district court's failure to give one sua sponte. <u>See, e.g., Smith v. State</u>, 120 Nev. 944, 947, 102 P.3d 569, 571 (2004); <u>Graham v. State</u>, 116 Nev. 23, 25, 992 P.2d 255, 256 (2000); <u>Davis v. State</u>, 110 Nev. 1107, 1112, 881 P.2d 657, 660 (1994); <u>Williams v. State</u>, 99 Nev. 530, 531, 665 P.2d 260, 261 (1983); <u>McMichael v. State</u>, 94 Nev. 184, 191, 577 P.2d 398, 402 (1978); <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 93 Nev. 677, 682, 572 P.2d 927, 930 (1977); <u>Holbrook v. State</u>, 90 Nev. 95, 98, 518 P.2d 1242, 1244 (1974); Holland v. State, 82 Nev. 191, 192, 414 P.2d 590, 591 (1966).

The State's review revealed only two cases by this Court citing <u>Lisby</u> where the Court actually considered whether it was error for the trial court to fail to instruct on lesser included offenses sua sponte. <u>McGuire v. State</u>, 86 Nev. 262, 266, 468 P.2d 12, 15 (1970), <u>Larsen v. State</u>, 93 Nev. 397, 400, 566 P.2d 413, 414 (1977). In both cases, the Court found there was no duty to instruct based on the facts of the case.

While Manning cites <u>Rosas v. State</u>, 122 Nev. 1258, 1264, 147 P.3d 1101, 1106 (2006), to support an allegation that the Court had an opportunity to modify <u>Lisby</u> before and has chosen not to, <u>Rosas</u> concerned a defense *request* for a lesser included offense instruction and the amount of proof required to warrant such an instruction. To use the case as an opportunity to overrule <u>Lisby</u> would have been beyond the scope of the controversy before the Court. Further, its discussion of the sua sponte requirement of <u>Lisby</u> was relegated to a footnote that explicitly stated that there was *no dispute* the defense had requested an instruction:

Another relevant consideration, *not in dispute here*, is whether such an instruction is requested. Generally, a defendant (or the State) must request an instruction: if there is any supporting evidence, "the court must, if requested, instruct" on a lesser-included offense. . . . However, "[t]he instruction is mandatory, without request" if "there is evidence which would absolve the defendant from guilt of the greater offense . . . but would support a finding of guilt of the lesser offense."

<u>Id.</u> at 1264 n.9, 147 P.3d at 1106 n.9 (emphasis added). This case hardly reaffirmed <u>Lisby</u> nor noted its "lasting significance," and it should not impede the Court's ability to overrule <u>Lisby</u>.

C. <u>Lisby</u>'s Language is Inconsistent With the Test for Lesser Included Offenses in Nevada

Next, Lisby's test is inconsistent with Nevada's definition of a lesser included offense. This Court uses the <u>Blockburger v. United States</u>, 284 U.S. 299, 52 S. Ct. 180 (1932), test to determine whether charges amount to lesser included offenses. <u>See Wilson v. State</u>, 121 Nev. 345, 358, 114 P.3d 285, 294 (2005). "Under this test, 'if the elements of the one offense are *entirely included* within the elements of a second offense, the first offense is a lesser included offense." <u>Id.</u> at 358-59, 114 P.3d at 294 (emphasis added) (quoting <u>Williams v. State</u>, 118 Nev. 536, 548, 50 P.3d 1116, 1124 (2002)). The test ultimately resolves itself on "whether the provisions of each of the different statutes require the proof of a fact that the other does not." <u>Id.</u> (*citing* Blockburger, 284 U.S. at 304, 52 S. Ct. at 180).

Clearly, to qualify as a lesser included offense, each element of the offense must be included within the greater offense. Yet, <u>Lisby</u> sets out two situations when a lesser included offense instruction must be given: (1) "there is evidence which would absolve the defendant from guilt of the greater offense or degree but would support a finding of guilt of the lesser offense or degree;" and (2) "where the elements of the greater offense include all of the elements of the lesser offense because it is the very nature of the greater offense that it could not have been committed without the defendant having the intent and doing the acts which constitute the lesser offense." Lisby, 82 Nev. at 188, 414 P.2d at 595. Under the first

test, which does not necessitate a finding that each element of the alleged lesser included offense is within the greater offense, a sua sponte instruction is required. However, under the second test, which mirrors the modern lesser included offense test, "the court must, *if requested*, instruct on the lower degree or lesser included offense." <u>Id.</u> Thus, the three situations outlined by <u>Lisby</u> are inconsistent with Nevada's current use of the <u>Blockburger</u> test, because every lesser included offense would fall under the second category cited above.

D. This Court Should Look to the Approach Taken by Federal Courts, Not California, in Deciding Whether NRS 175.501 Requires a Court to Sua Sponte Give Instructions on Lesser Included Offenses

Manning claims that because California Penal Code § 1159 is worded similarly to NRS 175.501, the Nevada statute "substantially mirrors" the California statute and mandates that the trial court sua sponte instruct on lesser included offenses. Opening Brief at 20. This reasoning is flawed for two reasons.

First, as discussed above, the plain meaning of the language of NRS 175.501 does not state that a trial court *must* give lesser included offense instructions in certain situations, even when the defense fails to request or objects to such instructions. The language of the statute is discretionary and states that it is permissible for a jury to find a defendant guilty of a lesser included offense.

Further, while Manning suggests that this Court look to California for guidance, the decisions of the federal courts on this issue are far more instructive.

For one, this Court has noted that the language of NRS 175.501 is identical to Federal

Rule of Criminal Procedure 31(c),⁴ and has previously followed federal precedent in

determining when an offense is a "lesser included offense" under the statute:

[U]nder Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 31(c), which contains language identical to NRS 175.501, an offense is not a lesser included offense unless the elements of the lesser offense are an entirely included subset of the elements of the charged offense. This approach is "grounded in the language and history of the Rule and provides for greater certainty in its application."

In light of the similarity in the language of Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 31(c) and NRS 175.501, we conclude that adherence to the view . . . whereby lesser included offenses are determined by the <u>Blockburger</u> elements test, is sound.

Barton v. State, 117 Nev. 686, 694, 30 P.3d 1103, 1108 (2001), overruled on other

grounds by Rosas, 122 Nev. 1258, 147 P.3d 1101.

⁴ Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 31(c) reads:

Lesser Offense or Attempt. A defendant may be found guilty of any of the following:

- (1) an offense necessarily included in the offense charged;
- (2) an attempt to commit the offense charged; or
- (3) an attempt to commit an offense necessarily included in the offense charged, if the attempt is an offense in its own right.

While set out differently from NRS 175.501, the only meaningful difference between the language in the statute and this procedural rule is the insertion of "guilty but mentally ill" language within NRS 175.501.

Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 30 also pertains to jury instructions. It contains a specific rule that states that a failure to object to the giving of an instruction or the failure to give a requested instruction precludes appellate review outside of plain error review. Fed. R. Crim. P. 30(d).

The legislative history of the language of NRS 175.501 further suggests that this Court look to federal precedent for guidance as to how to resolve the instant dispute. NRS 175.501 was added to the Nevada Revised Statutes by 1967 Nev. Stat. ch. 523 § 225, p. 1431, as part of the 1967 Criminal Procedure Act ("1967 Act"). The purpose of this act was "to adopt in statutory form, but not as rules of court, the *Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure*, discarding those not applicable in state courts and retaining existing Nevada statutes concerning matters not covered by the federal rules." STATE OF NEVADA, LEGISLATIVE COMMISSION OF THE LEGISLATIVE COUNSEL BUREAU, 54TH SESS., REVISION OF NEVADA'S SUBSTANTIVE CRIMINAL LAW AND PROCEDURE IN CRIMINAL CASES, BULLETIN NO. 66, REPORT OF THE SUBCOMMITTEE FOR REVISION OF THE CRIMINAL LAW TO THE LEGISLATIVE COMMISSION, at 3 (November 18, 1966) (emphasis added). This legislative history as well as the identical language between the Nevada statute and federal rule strongly suggest that this Court should look to the law of the federal circuits, rather than California, in determining whether lesser included offense instructions are mandatory, without request.

"No federal court has imposed on trial judges a duty to *sua sponte* instruct on lesser included offenses." <u>Kubat v. Thieret</u>, 867 F.2d 351, 365-366 (7th Cir. 1989). Each circuit has, instead, embraced the party autonomy approach or a hybrid approach, where a trial court *may* give a lesser included offense instruction over a party's objection, but is not required to.

The First, Third, Fourth, Fifth, Sixth, Seventh, Eighth, Ninth, and D.C. Circuits have all found that a defendant's failure to object renders the absence of lesser included offense instructions reviewable under the plain error or invited error doctrines, and have not imposed a duty to instruct. See, e.g., United States v. Lopez Andino, 831 F.2d 1164, 1171-72 (1st Cir. 1987); United States v. Petersen, 622 F.3d 196, 202 (3d Cir. 2010) ("Petersen's claim of error is as ironic as it is misguided. He not only failed to request a lesser-included offense charge in the district court and failed to object to the charge that was given; during the charge conference, Petersen specifically declined a lesser-included offense charge that the court offered to give. Thus, we review the instruction that was given for plain error."); United States v. Lespier, 725 F.3d 437, 450-51 (4th Cir. 2013) ("[A] defendant who invites error by successfully opposing an instruction on a lesser-included offense is not entitled to benefit from that error. Lespier opposed the second-degree murder instruction as a matter of sound trial strategy, and there is no indication that this failed strategy threatens the integrity of the justice system or represents a miscarriage of justice."); Druery v. Thaler, 647 F.3d 535, 545 (5th Cir. 2011) ("Petitioner cites no case law for the proposition that trial courts have a duty to overrule such a decision made by trial counsel."); United States v. Donathan, 65 F.3d 537, 540 (6th Cir. 1995); United

<u>States v. Lohse</u>, 797 F.3d 515, 522 (8th Cir. 2015); <u>United States v. Parker</u>, 991 F.2d 1493, 1496 (9th Cir. 1993); <u>United States v. Dingle</u>, 114 F.3d 307, 312-13 (D.C. Cir. 1997).

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